Martin Molberg Overrein

In situ biomass estimation of cultivated kelp using RGB imagery

Master's thesis in Ocean Resources Supervisor: Glaucia Moreira Fragoso Co-supervisor: David Aldridge, Phil Tinn, Geir Johnsen May 2023



Martin Molberg Overrein



NDU Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Natural Sciences Department of Biology

Martin Molberg Overrein

In situ **biomass estimation of cultivated kelp using RGB imagery**

Master's thesis in Ocean Resources Supervisor: Glaucia Moreira Fragoso Co-supervisor: David Aldridge, Phil Tinn, Geir Johnsen May 2023

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Natural Sciences Department of Biology



Abstract

Global seaweed aquaculture production makes up over one quarter of the total aquaculture production, with a production volume up to 35.1 million tons in 2020. In Norway, there is an increasing effort towards developing seaweed aquaculture as a new bioeconomy. Production is based on two kelp species, *Saccharina latissima* and *Alaria esculenta*, due to their high growth rates. However, Norwegian seaweed aquaculture is not profitable and is a small-scale industry. Biomass monitoring is one of the processes that today is inaccurate, time-consuming, labor-intensive and destructive. Hence, automated biomass monitoring is identified as one of the principainnovation needs.

Parallelly, there has been in a rapid development in recent years related to the use of underwater robotics and image processing techniques. State-of-the-art technology is widely researched and applied in marine operations. Hence, there is potential to apply new methods for monitoring of cultivated kelp.

The aim of this study was to investigate proof of concept for *in situ* biomass estimation of cultivated kelp. The proposed concept was to use underwater RGB imagery and computer vision techniques to estimate area as a proxy for biomass. In order to investigate proof of concept, the main goal was to have a preliminary assessment of: 1) Key environmental factors that might affect the quality of underwater RGB imagery of kelp. 2) The feasibility of deriving quantifiable size information about kelp from underwater RGB imagery. 3) The feasibility of using computer vision-derived area estimation as a robust proxy for kelp biomass.

We found that image quality was highly correlated with phytoplankton biomass in the water, with blooms resulting in lower quality. Our work further indicated that turbidity, possibly in the form of suspended matter (TSM), reinforced the negative effect, albeit appearing to have less importance in the study area. Accuracy of area detection was impacted by image quality. However, factors such as distance between camera and the kelp, and kelp movement due to water movement was of importance. As a result, we propose that kelp farmers should seek to understand and monitor environmental factors.

Our work indicated high feasibility of deriving meaningful size information about kelp from human-supervised annotation, mostly independent of observed image quality. It was also possible to derive computer vision-derived area estimation of high accuracy, albeit the method was somewhat sensitive to image quality. Together, this indicated that underwater RGB imagery is a suitable concept for biomass estimation of kelp.

We found a strong relationship between computer vision-derived area estimates and ground-truth weight measurements, indicating the feasibility of area as robust proxy for kelp biomass. Furthermore, using area estimation as proxy for biomass estimation, had the advantage of simplifying both data collection and processing. Hence, we propose further research based on using area estimation from underwater RGB imagery to build a model for accurate biomass monitoring at farm-scale.

A future scheme for farm-scale monitoring could be based on autonomous collection of imagery and environmental data, and real-time biomass estimation and prediction with machine learning techniques.

Sammendrag (Norwegian abstract)

Global produksjon i makroalgeoppdrett utgjør over en fjerdedel av total oppdrettsproduksjon, med et produksjonsvolum på opptil 35.1 millioner tonn i 2020. I Norge er det stadig økt innsats for å utvikle makroalgeoppdrett til en ny bioøkonomi. Produksjon er basert på to tarearter, *Saccharina latissima* og *Alaria esculenta*, grunnet deres høye vekstrater. Dog, norsk makroalgeoppdrett er ikke lønnsomt, og er en småskala industri. Overvåking av biomasse er en av prosessene som i dag er unøyaktig, tidkrevende, arbeidskrevende og destruktivt. Dermed er automatisert overvåking av biomasse identifisert som en av de viktigste innovasjonsbehovene.

Parallelt har det vært en rask utvikling de siste årene relatert til bruk av undervannsrobotikk og bildeprosesseringsteknikker. Toppmoderne teknologi er bredt utforsket og anvendt i marine operasjoner. Dermed er det et potensial i å anvende nye metoder for overvåking av kultivert tare.

Målet med denne studien var å undersøke konseptbevis for *in situ* biomasseestimering av kultivert tare. The foreslåtte konseptet var å bruke undervanns RGB-bilder og datasynteknikker for å estimere areal som en proxy for biomasse. For å undersøke konseptbevis, var hovedmålet å ha en innledende vurdering av: 1) Sentrale miljøfaktorer som kan påvirke kvaliteten på undervanns RGB-bilder av tare. 2) Gjennomførbarheten til å utlede kvantifiserbar størrelsesinformasjon om tare fra undervanns RGB-bilder. 3) Gjennomførbarheten til å bruke datasynutledede arealestimat som en robust proxy for tarebiomasse.

Vi fant at bildekvalitet var i stor grad korrelert med fytoplanktonbiomasse i vannet, og at oppblomstringer resulterte i lavere kvalitet. Vårt arbeid indikerte videre at turbiditet, muligens i form av oppløst materiale (TSM), forsterker den negative effekten. Riktignok ser den ut til å ha mindre viktighet i studieområdet. Nøyaktigheten på arealdeteksjon var påvirket av bildekvalitet. Imidlertid var faktorer som distanse mellom kamera og taren, og tarebevegelse grunnet vannbevegelse, av betydning. Som et resultat foreslår vi at tareoppdrettere bør søke å forstå og overvåke miljøfaktorer.

Vårt arbeid indikerte høy gjennomførbarhet til p utlede meningsfull størrelsesinformasjon om tare fra menneskeovervåket annotering, stor sett uavhengig av observert bildekvalitet. Det var også mulig å utlede datasynutledet arealestimat av høy nøyaktighet. Riktignok var metoden noe sensitiv for bildekvalitet. Samlet indikerte dette at undervanns RGB-bilder er et passende konsept for biomasseestimering av tare.

Vi fant et sterkt forhold mellom datasynutledet arealestimat og reelle vektmål, noe som indikerte gjennomførbarheten til areal som robust proxy tarebiomasse. Dessuten, å bruke arealestimering som proxy for biomasseestimering har fordelen av å forenkle både datainnsamling og -prosessering. Derfor foreslår vi videre forskning basert på å bruke arealestimering fra undervanns RGB-bilder for å bygge en modell for nøyaktig biomasseovervåking på lokalitetskala.

En fremtidig ordning for lokalitetsskala overvåking kan være basert på autonom innhenting av bilder og miljødata, og sanntid biomasseestimering og prediksjon med maskinlæringsteknikker.

Acknowledgements

The work on this thesis took place at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), at the Department of Biology, in the period from December 2021 to May 2023. The main portion of the work was conducted at the Trondhjem Biological Station (TBS) and NTNU Centre of Fisheries and Aquaculture (SeaLab). Field work was carried out at Måsskjæra seaweed farm, owned and operated by Seaweed Solutions (SES). The thesis was a part of the NTNU project MoniTARE.

A big thank you to my supervisor Glaucia Moreira Fragoso for letting me embark on this new and exciting project. Your commitment to the project has been essential for setting the direction and for continued progress of the work. Wishing you best of luck with all your research going forward!

Thank you to David Aldridge for being my co-supervisor, helping me with tips and tricks for study design and processing methods, as well as helpful feedback on results and writing. I would also like to thank my co-supervisor Phil Tinn, for helping me with developing a code for deriving meaningful estimates of kelp, and for discussions of the results. Also thanks to my co-supervisor Geir Johnsen, for helpful feedback on results and writing, especially in the last stages. Extra thanks to Geir for being an enthusiastic guy that inspired me to work with enabling technology!

Thanks to Benjamin Thomason for being my master-partner in the MoniTARE project. Will remember all the pizza and long hours during field work.

Would also like to thank all the people at SES for the cooperation, with a special shoutout to Diogo Raposo, Kristian Cato Haugen and the rest of the crew at Måsskjæra for flexible help during field work.

I wish to give a big thanks to Malin Bø Nevstad for helping me get acquainted with ROVs and image processing, and also for stepping in during field work. Additionally, thanks for good times at field work and for sharing your dedication to marine science. I am inspired!

Thank you to Rune Bjørgum for help with practical stuff at TBS, and for great talks over many coffee cups! I can extend this thanks to all the people at TBS, for making a great academic and social environment.

A very big thank you to all my fellow students during my time at NTNU. You have made these two years memorable, with a lot of fun social gatherings, field work and academic work. A special thank you to my extended family at TBS: Gitte Krohn-Pettersen, Nora Rønningen and Thea Svendsen. Without you, these last months with intensive work would have been the longest and most mundane time of my life. With you, they were some of my best times as a student!

Without good people around you, you won't go far in life. Therefore, I must express great gratitude to my friends and family, for keeping me sane, giving me reasons for taking breaks, and most importantly, reminding me of what is most important in life. None of you will probably read this, but you know who you are.

Trondheim, May 2023

Martin Molberg Overrein

Table of Contents

	Abstra	itract			
	Samm	nendrag (Norwegian abstract)vi			
	Ackno	wledgements vii			
	List of	Abbreviations (or Symbols)xi			
1	Intro	oduction1			
	1.1	Seaweed aquaculture1			
	1.2	Seaweed aquaculture in Norway2			
	1.3	Needs of the industry			
	1.4	Biomass monitoring			
	1.5	Underwater robotics4			
	1.6	Underwater imagery4			
	1.7	Computer vision			
	1.8	Underwater operations in aquaculture6			
	1.9	Aim of research7			
2	Mate	erials and methods8			
	2.1	Study area and design8			
	2.2	Environmental data10			
	2.3	Sensor-carrying platform and optical sensor11			
	2.4	Image sampling11			
	2.5	Image processing12			
	2.5.	1 Manual annotation of length12			
	2.5.	2 Computer vision estimation of area13			
	2.6	Ground truthing14			
	2.7	Statistical analysis15			
3	Res	ults16			
	3.1	Environmental data16			
	3.2	Image quality and area detection18			
	3.3	Ground-truth length (GTL) versus ground-truth weight (GTW)21			
	3.4	Manual annotation length (MAL) versus ground-truth length (GTL)22			
	3.5	Computer vision area (CVA) versus ground-truth length (GTL)23			
	3.6	Computer vision area (CVA) versus ground-truth weight (GTW)24			
4	Disc	ussion			
	4.1	Effect of environmental factors on image quality25			
	4.2	Size information about kelp from underwater RGB imagery27			
	4.3	Computer vision-derived area estimation as a proxy for biomass29			

	4.4	Future perspectives for biomass estimation of cultivated kelp	. 30
5	Con	nclusion	. 32
R	eferen	ices	. 33

List of Abbreviations (or Symbols)

2D	Two-dimensional
3D	Three-dimensional
AOP	Apparent optical properties
AUV	Autonomous underwater vehicle
cDOM	Colored dissolved organic material
CVA	Computer vision area
FChla	Chlorophyll a fluorescence
FHD	Full High-Definition
FOV	Field of view
FTU	Formazine Turbidity Unit
GTL	Ground-truth length
GTW	Ground-truth weight
IOP	Inherent optical properties
MAL	Manual annotation length
ML	Machine learning
NOK	Norwegian krone
NTNU	The Norwegian University of Science and Technology
OOI	Object of interest
PA	Precision Aquaculture
R&D	Research and development
R ²	Coefficient of determination
RGB	Red, green, blue
ROI	Region of interest
ROV	Remotely operated vehicle
SES	Seaweed Solutions
SR	Squared residual
TBS	Trondhjem Biological Station
TSM	Total suspended matter
UN	United Nations
UNSDG	United Nations Sustainable Development Goal

1 Introduction

1.1 Seaweed aquaculture

Seaweed, also known as macroalgae, is a group of photosynthetic multicellular marine algae, traditionally defined into groups based on their pigment composition: green (Chlorophyta), red (Rhodophyta) and brown (Phaeophyta). For most seaweed, their structure consists of a holdfast that anchors the seaweed to a substrate, a stipe and lamina. These multicellular organisms inhabit hard, rocky substrates in the littoral zone down to depths where sufficient light for photosynthesis can penetrate (Hurd et al., 2014). Belonging to the lowest trophic level, seaweed serve as the dominant primary producers in the coastal zone due to its abundance (Krause-Jensen & Duarte, 2016) and high respiratory rates (Middelburg et al., 2005).

Global algae aquaculture production, dominated by seaweed, has exponentially increased for decades (Cai et al., 2021b), with a production volume up to 35.1 million tons, wet weight, in 2020. This accounts for 97 percent of total algae production, including wild harvest, and more than one quarter of the total aquaculture production (FAO, 2022a). Red and brown seaweed are the primary target groups in seaweed aquaculture, as well as the second and third-largest group, respectively, in aquaculture in general (FAO, 2022b). Despite the large production, only 5.4 percent (in 2019) of the total aquaculture value comes from seaweed (Cai et al., 2021b). The large volume-low value correlation can be explained by the fact that 99.5 percent of the global seaweed production can be attributed to Southeast Asia, with China and Indonesia making up the bulk of it (FAO, 2022a). The region has longstanding traditions for using a majority of production for direct human consumption and processed food components, traditionally yielding a lower price. Only a small percentage of biomass is used in non-food applications, such as feed, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and fertilizers (Lange et al., 2020; Stévant et al., 2017).

For seaweed cultivation, there is no need for input factors such as feed, fertilizers or freshwater, so-called extensive aquaculture (Padam & Chye, 2020). Consequently, the production costs are low compared to intensive aquaculture. This, fueled by a growth rate far exceeding that of terrestrial crops and plants (Kraan, 2020), enable seaweed aquaculture to be profitable despite traditionally low product value (Neori & Nobre, 2012). A growing seaweed cultivation industry can replace or become additive to current wild harvesting, supplying the hydrocolloid industry with biomass. Moreover, seaweed cultivation supplies a growing opportunity for biorefinery industry by utilizing seaweed as a source of food, feed additive, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, biomaterials and bioenergy (Kraan, 2020). Additionally, seaweed aquaculture has value related to climate change mitigation and adaptation. This includes the ability to sequester carbon, mitigate ocean acidification and eutrophication (Lange et al., 2020), and protect coastal areas against flooding and erosion. Furthermore, seaweed can be utilized for biofuels and other products, representing a carbon neutral alternative to traditional fossil fuels and raw materials such as soy and palm oil (Duarte et al., 2013; Krause-Jensen et al., 2018; Sondak et al., 2017). Also, by moving production from terrestrial fields and wild harvest to coastal regions, conflict regarding land overexploitation and dispute can be avoided. In summary, seaweed aquaculture can provide a significant contribution to reaching the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDGs).

Outside of Asia, seaweed production is still incipient, despite the increasing interests in recent years due to the growing awareness of sustainability and wide range of application of this marine resource, fueled by the growing realization that seaweed is a highly sustainable marine resource that can be adapted and utilized in a range of applications, both as food components and in other products. Additionally, it has added environmental, economic and societal benefits (Kraan, 2020). A growing interest is recognized in tropical and sub-tropical waters in Africa, Asia, Chile and the Caribbean, in temperate waters in Morocco, France and Portugal, and in cold waters in the Nordic countries, Canada and Chile (Lange et al., 2020). A rapid growth is predicted, especially in parts of Europe and the Americas, where industry, government and academia are eventually pulling in the same direction (Kraan, 2020). The growing seaweed interest throughout the world, prompted Lloyd's Register Foundation, with active support of the United Nations (UN) Global Compact, to publish a "Seaweed Manifesto", envisioning how seaweed can be a part of delivering on the UNSDGs (Lloyd's Register Foundation, 2020). The current optimism is further proved by some of the leading academic, governmental and entrepreneurial institutions on the field envisioning a "Seaweed Revolution" in the making (Financial Times Live, 2023).

1.2 Seaweed aquaculture in Norway

In Norway, seaweed as a food resource can be traced back to the Viking age, where, according to the sagas, seaweed was used as a snack during overseas exploitation, as the high iodine level is preventative against scurvy (Hallsson, 1964; Mouritsen et al., 2013). However, seaweed is not considered an important food ingredient today, as the only significant application is manufacturing of alginate from wild harvested seaweed. Norway is a significant wild harvester of seaweed, second largest in harvested volume after Chile (Cai et al., 2021a). Yet, wild harvest seems to have reached its potential years ago, and production has declined in later years. Hence, it is not equipped to provide the wanted increase in production volume for a developing seaweed industry. Seaweed aquaculture is therefore seen as the way forward (Kraan, 2020).

The total production of cultivated seaweed in Norway was limited to 246 tons at a value of NOK 6.2 million in 2020 (Fiskeridirektoratet, 2023). Seaweed aquaculture in Norway is focused on two brown seaweed, or kelp, species, namely *Saccharina latissima* and *Alaria esculenta*, due to their high growth rates (Cai et al., 2021a; Skjermo et al., 2014). Biomass is primarily used for human consumption, with a broadening range of products, including animal feed, biofuel, pharmaceuticals and bio-packaging, being developed. In recent years, relatively small-size kelp farms have been deployed based mostly on Asian cultivation techniques. This involves seeding the ropes with kelp spores and letting them fertilize and grow into sporophytes in tanks. Further, the ropes are deployed in predetermined patterns, distances and depths at a sea farm, preferably above 10 meters depth (Skjermo et al., 2014). The sea farm itself is typically structured as a square made up of ropes and buoys, held in place by a mooring system (Sulaiman et al., 2015). Alternative techniques include wrapping pre-seeded twine around ropes, or substituting the ropes altogether with nets or flat sheets as growth substrate (Kraan, 2020).

There is a growing interest and effort towards developing seaweed aquaculture as a new Norwegian bioeconomy (Olafsen et al., 2012; Skjermo et al., 2014). Norway is identified as a highly suitable region for productive seaweed cultivation due to the long coastline

characterized by nutrient-rich inflow of Atlantic water and favorable climate. Furthermore, Norway is world-leading in marine aquaculture and offshore operations, combined with a strong tradition in marine research. In addition, Norway is actually the ninth largest (and second outside Asia) global seaweed producer (if wild harvest is included), indicating the availability of relevant competence (Cai et al., 2021a). This lays the foundation for a significant development, including offshore seaweed production. Optimistic assessments points towards the fact that seaweed production potential will be as high as 20 million tons by 2050 (Olafsen et al., 2012).

1.3 Needs of the industry

Today, Norwegian seaweed aquaculture is not profitable and is a small-scale industry. This means that cultivation and processing techniques are still at a basic stage, with little to no industry-grade technology. However, recent growing interest in this field of aquaculture on both governmental and industrial level, means that the needs and possibilities for technological advancement is on the rise. Technological advancement is needed to upscale the industry, as ineffective and labor-intensive methods serve as bottlenecks for higher yield and greater biomass quality. The challenges towards upscaling the seaweed cultivation industry is somewhat complex. A primary challenge is the development of cost-effective production techniques for large volumes of seaweed, a prerequisite for reaching profitability (Kraan, 2020). Consequently, there is a pressing need for research and development (R&D) to enable seaweed aquaculture to become a viable industry. A number of fields of R&D has been identified as prerequisites for an industry scale seaweed production. These include cost effective production lines at sea and land, predictable chemical composition and biomass yield, biofouling control, and upscaling strategies from experimental to commercial phase. Towards making the production at sea more cost efficient, automated biomass monitoring is one of the principal technological innovations needed (Skjermo et al., 2014).

1.4 Biomass monitoring

One of the main advantages of seaweed production is the high growth rate of some species (e.g. S. latissima). At the same time, this necessitates accurate and effective biomass monitoring to ensure successful deployment and growth development to optimize production (Bell et al., 2020; Skjermo et al., 2014). Kelp farmers today have no accurate and efficient way of monitoring kelp biomass. Traditionally, biomass has been measured manually by visual inspection of a sub-population and extrapolating the results for the whole farm. However, this method can be time-consuming, inaccurate, laborintensive and destructive. Accurate biomass monitoring is important because the farmers want a predictable control of standing biomass and growth throughout production. Knowledge of growth patterns are key to further optimize conditions and methods for higher yield. Furthermore, it is valuable to know, yearly, how much biomass can be expected to harvest and sell, in order to deliver predictable yield for the processing industry. Implementing non-destructive monitoring is valuable in the sense that harvested kelp for biomass estimation is a direct loss of yield. Automation of farm monitoring can be more efficient timewise, reduce the costs and increase health and safety. These are important factors towards building a profitable production. Development towards an offshore-based seaweed industry amplifies the need for remote monitoring. The share scale of envisioned seaweed cultivation (Olafsen et al., 2012) itself requires that automated monitoring is available, accurate and effective (Skjermo et al., 2014). A monitoring method that can provide relevant and objective information for farm

management and operation would serve as a step towards more knowledge-based and automated practices (Føre & Alver, 2022).

The first part of the challenge of monitoring kelp biomass is to collect data about the kelp. One possible method is to use an underwater robot mounted with a camera that can capture imagery of the kelp (Bell et al., 2020). This can streamline the data collection, as one no longer is dependent on going by boat to physically lift up the lines for visual inspection or harvesting samples, and thus making monitoring more effective. The second part of the problem is to extract information from the collected data. By applying computer processing to the image data collected by the underwater vehicle, it is possible to extract numerical information about the size of the kelp (Jin et al., 2023). Additionally, it can increase the accuracy of the extracted information compared to visual inspection, as one no longer is dependent on a pair of eyes, thus making monitoring more accurate.

1.5 Underwater robotics

Robotic systems designed for underwater use include a range of technologies, such as submarines, submersibles, remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) and autonomous underwater vehicles (AUVs) (Sørensen et al., 2020). ROVs are underwater vehicles that are operated by an operator on the surface using a remote-control system. They are typically tethered to the surface by a cable that provides power and communication between the vehicle and the operator. Typically, ROVs can be used in underwater environments where it is difficult or impossible for humans to access, such as underwater inspection, maintenance, and repair, as well as scientific research, data collection and exploration. For this purpose, they can be equipped with a variety of payload sensors, including optical, acoustic and environmental sensors that allows for data collection by either remote sensing or direct measurements in field (*in situ*). In addition, navigation sensors can be equipped for control of positioning, depth, heading and velocity (Sørensen et al., 2020). ROVs come in a range of sizes, from small handheld devices to large vehicles capable of carrying heavy equipment and conducting complex operations (Ludvigsen & Sørensen, 2016). AUVs are advanced underwater vehicles that can operate at different levels of autonomy, meaning they can perform pre-programmed tasks with minimal, too no, human intervention (Ludvigsen & Sørensen, 2016; Sørensen et al., 2020). Both ROVs and AUVs represent sensor-carrying platforms that is extensively used in collection of underwater imagery by utilizing optical sensors (Johnsen et al., 2020b).

1.6 Underwater imagery

Underwater imagery refers to the use of optical sensors to capture images or videos underwater. Optical sensors can collect high-resolution qualitative data about underwater objects of interest (OOIs). Water visibility is a constraint to the possibility for quantitative data collection with optical sensors (Ludvigsen & Sørensen, 2016), a constraint that can be summarized as the apparent optical properties (AOP) of the water. Photons that travel through water can either be scattered or absorbed by water molecules, and by compounds such as phytoplankton, colored dissolved organic material (cDOM) and total suspended matter (TSM). These properties are the inherent optical properties (IOP) of water, and will not change based on the light conditions (IOCCG, 2000; Johnsen et al., 2009). On the other hand, the apparent optical properties (AOP) of water depend on both IOPs and light conditions. This means that the AOPs are altered and regulated by light condition-affecting factors such as sun angle, albedo, surface waves, changes in cloud cover, rain, snow and air humidity (Sakshaug et al., 2009). The AOPs alter the spectral light absorption and backscatter, negatively affecting the range of which optical sensors can detect and measure OOIs (Sørensen et al., 2020). As a result, the range must be adjusted according to the size and complexity of the OOI, as well as the required resolution, to obtain data of satisfactory quality (Johnsen et al., 2020b).

RGB (red, green, blue) imagery with digital cameras constitutes the most available and simple method for optical underwater data collection. Digital cameras capture imagery that produce images by assigning each pixel with an intensity value for red, green and blue. The color channels largely correspond to the three wave bands the human eye is sensitive to, and when combining the intensity of each, the result is the color the human eye perceive (Johnsen et al., 2020b). Underwater imagery can with these properties be relevant in applications such as measuring of geological conditions, archaeological features and biological identification and attributes (Sørensen et al., 2020). As RGB imagery can only render information about three wave bands, it has constraints compared to other multispectral and hyperspectral optical sensors. However, the combination of availability, simplicity and affordability makes RGB imagery an important method in, for example, biomass estimations of both terrestrial crops (Wang et al., 2021) and cultured fish (Saberioon et al., 2017).

Two digital cameras can be combined into a stereo camera by mounting them in a setup next to each other. They need to be aligned at a known, fixed distance and be synchronized by cable or other connection. The stereo setup will function similar to the human eyes by giving a binocular (two-eyed) vision that can render estimations about depth to objects through use of point triangulation (Johnsen et al., 2020b). Consequently, stereo imagery can allow for three-dimensional (3D) modelling of a number of different OOIs, with some of the most groundbreaking underwater applications being modelling of ship wreck sites (Diamanti et al., 2021) and complex benthic habitats (Nevstad, 2022). There has been remarkable advancements in the usage of underwater imagery in later years due to the occurrence of new processing techniques, driven by developments in computer capacity and computer vision software (Sørensen et al., 2020).

1.7 Computer vision

Computer vision is a field of science that enables computers to interpret and understand visual information, such as images or videos. The technology uses advanced algorithms and mathematical models to analyze and collect meaningful information from visual data, for example, detecting objects and their attributes, identifying patterns or tracking movement (Yan, 2022). Computer vision algorithms have greatly increased the ability to non-invasively measure organisms through image analysis (Weinstein, 2018). Possible applications of computer vision techniques are numerous and ever increasing. Furthermore, with the recent exponential advancements of artificial intelligence, including the vast sub-field of machine learning, computer vision is destined to become an increasingly important field of R&D (Yan, 2022). As in-depth reviewed by Zion (2012) and Saberioon et al. (2017), computer vision application in aquaculture has been in the R&D stage for more than 30 years already. Yet, only recently have some concepts taken the step into commercially viable products (Føre & Alver, 2022).

1.8 Underwater operations in aquaculture

Underwater operations have become an increasingly important tool in aquaculture (Føre & Alver, 2022). In aquaculture farms, ROVs can be used for inspection of nets and structures for early detection of damage or wear (Kelasidi et al., 2020). In combination with optical sensors and computer vision techniques, underwater robotics have several usages (Zion, 2012). This includes, for example, real-time detection and monitoring of welfare indicators such as lice, disease, injury and deformity, and monitoring of individual feed pellets or the feeding behavior of fish (Føre et al., 2018). Biomass monitoring of fish is another application already in extensive use in fish aquaculture (Saberioon et al., 2017). Size is estimated based on parameters such as area, length, width and pose, and can provide high accuracy estimates of biomass (Coro & Walsh, 2021; de Verdal et al., 2014; Viazzi et al., 2015; Zion et al., 1999). Optical sensors and computer vision techniques enable development of more accurate, effective and remote monitoring of kelp biomass. The potential is constantly increasing on account of the rapid development in camera technology and speed of computer processing (Saberioon et al., 2017). Overall, do the implementation of underwater robotics and imagery in combination with computer vision techniques in aquaculture, have the potential to drastically improve the efficiency and sustainability of aquaculture (Føre & Alver, 2022).

Significant research has been undertaken related to remote monitoring of both wild and cultivated kelp, although with varying focus and aims. Studies have looked into the use of satellite imagery to detect and quantify kelp (Bell et al., 2015; Bell et al., 2020; Jin et al., 2023), and also with unmanned arial vehicles (UAVs) (Cavanaugh et al., 2021b). These methods show promise towards detecting canopy forming kelps, however they are largely limited to monitoring at large spatial scales, nor do they provide underwater information about kelp not forming canopies. Underwater mapping of wild kelp has been conducted using ROV (Summers et al., 2022) and AUV (Bewley et al., 2012; Mahmood et al., 2020). Bell et al. (2020) applied a ROV in combination with acoustic and optical sensors to gather information about cultivated kelp biomass. With the use of sidescan sonar and RGB camera, imagery of cultivated kelp was collected, and then a machine learning model was trained to automatically detect individual kelp specimens. Similar research was conducted by Stenius et al. (2022), testing an AUV for autonomous image collection at a kelp farm. These studies show the potential that underwater imagery can be used for monitoring of cultivated kelp with high spatial resolution. However, no previous studies, to the authors knowledge, has validated the accuracy of kelp estimation by collecting ground-truth measurements and investigating the relationship.

1.9 Aim of research

The aim of this study was to investigate proof of concept for *in situ* biomass estimation of cultivated kelp. The proposed concept was to use underwater RGB imagery and computer vision techniques to estimate area as a proxy for biomass.

In order to investigate proof of concept, the main goal was to have a preliminary assessment of:

- 1. Key environmental factors that might affect the quality of underwater RGB imagery of kelp.
- 2. The feasibility of deriving quantifiable size information about kelp from underwater RGB imagery.
- 3. The feasibility of using computer vision-derived area estimation as a robust proxy for kelp biomass.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Study area and design

The study area was located at Frøya island, of the coast off Mid-Norway. Frøya is part of a biodiversity-rich area with significant water mixing due to strong winds and tidal currents (Fragoso et al., 2021). The oceanography is characterized by the Norwegian Coastal Current mixed with freshwater runoffs from Norwegian fjords (Skagseth et al., 2011). Furthermore, the area is exposed to occasional upwelling of warm and nutrientrich waters of the North Atlantic Current (Sætre, 2007). Consequently, the area is highly productive regarding seafood production, including both wild harvest and aquaculture (Ervik et al., 2018; Tiller et al., 2015).

The field work was conducted at Måsskjæra seaweed farm (63°44.617'N 8°52.756'E) owned and operated by Seaweed Solutions (SES), located close to Sistranda, Frøya (Fig. 1). Sampling occurred seven times from March to June 2022 (Table 1), on kelp that was deployed at sea in November 2021. Selection of sampling days and work schedule was partially dependent on wind and tidal conditions. Data sampling consisted of three individual methods: 1) Continuous measurements of environmental data (temperature, turbidity and phytoplankton) throughout the sampling period. 2) Ground truthing of kelp measurements (wet weight biomass and lamina length and width) was collected by physical harvest after image sampling. 3) Image sampling of kelp performed using RGB cameras on a ROV. Thereafter, image data were processed using computer vision techniques. Finally, statistical analysis was performed on processed image, ground truth and environmental data.



Fig. 1: a) Map showing the location of Måsskjæra seaweed farm, Trondheim city and Sula meteorological station (where wind data were collected) on b) the coast of Trøndelag county (mid-Norway). c) Illustration of the Måsskjæra seaweed farm, showing the collection site (station MI) where the sampling was conducted (blue X).

The field work occurred at the spring, as it is the primary growth-period of the cultivated kelp before biofouling settles (Førde et al., 2016). This enabled us to sample during distinct development stages of the kelp, from young sporophytes in March to 'bushy canopy" in June, to test the method on kelp of different size and growth density. As mentioned, sampling was aimed to be done under as optimal environmental conditions as possible, such as low tides (slack water) and weak wind conditions, as to experience less kelp movement by the currents, where the kelp is kept vertically in the images. However, in practice, several times the tide was turning from low to rising, and the wind was shifting during sampling due of the short time window and the dynamic weather conditions of the study area (Table 1).

Table 1: Field campaign date (2022) and image sampling time. Tidal conditions (Måsskjæra), average and maximum wind speed (Sula metrological station) and cloud cover (Ørland metrological station) for the image sampling time period. Source: www.kartverket.no for tides and www.yr.no for wind and cloud cover conditions.

Field day	Date	Time	Tide (cm)	Wind (m/s)	Wind direction	Weather
1	March 22	10:30- 12:00	103-181 (Rising)	5,0 (6,7)		۵
2	April 5	12:30- 14:00	178-232 (Rising)	1,9 (8,7)	I	۵
3	April 20	07:50- 09:30	37-39 (Low)	2,4 (3,7)	-	*
4	May 4	08:30- 09:30	50-63 (Low/rising)	6,1 (8,5)	•	
5	May 27	10:20- 12:10	231-199 (High/receding)	6,7 (8,5)		۵
6	June 3	08:40- 09:20	61-64 (Low)	5,1 (7,9)		
7	June 15	08:40- 09:50	84-145 (Rising)	7,9 (11,0)		•

2.2 Environmental data

Environmental data was collected in order to investigate whether, and to what extent, they affect observed image quality, and consequently, the possibility for satisfactory area detection yielding meaningful output. We took measurements of three factors affecting the inherent optical properties (IOPs) of the water: 1) Turbidity, a measure of optical clarity of water caused by scattering and absorption of photons. 2) Phytoplankton, measured as chlorophyll *a* fluorescence (*FChla*), with chlorophyll *a* being the main compound of phytoplankton (Fragoso et al., 2021). 3) Temperature. A C3 submersible fluorometer sensor (Turner Designs, USA) was attached to a buoy at Station MI (Fig. 1c), at 3 meters depth. The sensor collected data of *FChla* (calibrated later to concentration in mg m⁻³), turbidity (FTU) and temperature (°C) every 10 min from February 16 to June 15.

2.3 Sensor-carrying platform and optical sensor

A Blueye X3 (Blueye Robotics, Norway) (Fig. 2) was used as the sensor-carrying platform for the image sampling. It is a mini-ROV which can be carried and operated by one person, with the internal camera providing vision for the operator during dive operations. It can reach great depths, operate for a reasonable amount of time in differing conditions, and light up its own environment. The ROV was chosen for this study due to it being small and maneuverable enough for easy operation in the tight spaces of a kelp farm, while at the same time providing sufficient power to operate in coastal conditions with sensor payloads. It is also relatively easy to operate and affordable, making it an available alternative. The internal camera of the ROV was used as the optical sensor for the image sampling. It is a digital RGB camera equipped with 30° tilt up and down, which can collect imagery with Full High-Definition (FHD) resolution and 115° field of view (FOV).



Fig. 2: a) A Blueye X3 ready for deployment, and b) deployed underwater with the tether linking it to the surface unit. Photos: Benjamin Thomason, 2022.

2.4 Image sampling

For image sampling (Fig. 3), a 50-meter-long line of cultivated *S. latissima* at station MI (Fig. 1c) was chosen. A checkerboard, used for size reference, was attached to the start of the cultivation line. Red plastic strips were attached to the line at one-meter intervals, indicating that each meter represents a replicate of the kelp attached to the line. Adjacent triplicates of one-meter kelp replicates were selected for imaging, and image sampling was conducted by maneuvering the ROV sidewards along the cultivation line. For that, the internal camera was pointed in the direction of the kelp and at a sufficient distance to ensure that the whole length of the kelp and width of the one-meter replicate was captured in the frame. The same method was repeated at each field day (Table 1), where adjacent triplicates of one-meter kelp replicates was imaged.



Fig. 3: Illustration of the image sampling method, where a checkerboard is used for size reference, and red strips indicates one-meter replicates of kelp samples. A ROV with internal RGB camera is used to collect triplicate imagery of replicates. Illustration: Martin Molberg Overrein (Adapted from Glaucia M. Fragoso).

2.5 Image processing

Image processing consisted of two different methods: (I) Manual annotation of length performed using a basic image processing program and (II) Area estimation performed using computer vision techniques. After first overview of the sampled image data, it was apparent that the red plastic strips used as one-meter markers was not sufficiently visible to be used as size reference. This meant that image data used in further processing was restricted to the first replicate from each sampling, where strips in combination with the checkerboard could be used as size reference.

2.5.1 Manual annotation of length

Manual annotation, meaning supervised length estimation of the kelp in the image data, was performed using the image processing program ImageJ (Image Processing and Analysis in Java) (Fig. 4). The pipeline started with extraction of six frames of the first kelp replicate from the image data collected by the internal ROV camera (Fig. 4.1). The six frames were selected based on having the checkerboard visible, and with different distances and poses to the kelp, in order to capture some variability in the image data. The selected frames were then uploaded to ImageJ. The checkerboard in the frame was

used as size reference to set a scale of pixels per centimeter (pixels/cm) for the corresponding frame (Fig. 4.2). Then, ten kelp specimens in the frame were randomly selected, and length in centimeters (cm) was measured by drawing a line from tip to holdfast of the specimen, using the "line" and "measure" tools in ImageJ (Fig. 4.3). The mean of the measurements is presented as manual annotation length (MAL) hereafter. The pipeline was repeated using image data from each field day.



Fig. 4: Pipeline for manual annotation of length performed using ImageJ. 1) Extraction of frames from image data. 2) Using checkerboard to set scale of pixels per centimeter (pixels/cm). 3) Drawing and measuring length from tip to holdfast of ten randomly selected kelp specimens, resulting in manual annotation length (MAL).

2.5.2 Computer vision estimation of area

Computer vision estimation of area was performed using OpenCV (Open Source Computer Vision Library) (Fig. 5), a library of programming functions used for real-time computer vision. Python was the chosen programming language due to its compatibility with OpenCV.

The pipeline started with extraction of six frames of the first kelp replicate from the image data collected by the internal ROV camera (Fig. 5.1). The six frames selected, were the same frames used in manual annotation. The selection was based on having the checkerboard visible, and with different distances and poses to the kelp, in order to capture some variability in the image data. The region of interest (ROI) in the frame was defined as the width of the one-meter replicate and height sufficient to capture the full length of the kelp. ROI was extracted in order to limit area detection to the wanted kelp replicate (Fig. 5.2). Further, clustering of pixel values was applied as a pre-processing step to allow more accurate distinction of color (Fig. 5.3), before color segmentation was applied to distinguish the kelp as the object of interest (OOI) from the surrounding background in the frame (Fig. 5.4). Next, adaptive thresholding was applied to mask out the OOI from the background (Fig. 5.5), allowing detection of the contour of the OOI (Fig. 5.6). Lastly, the number of individual pixels in the contour area was counted. The pixel count was converted to square decimeters (dm²) by using the known pixel width and real-world width (one meter) of the frame as size reference, presented as computer vision area per meter (CVA) hereafter. The pipeline was repeated using image data from each field day.



Fig. 5: Pipeline for the computer vision area estimation performed with OpenCV. 1) Extraction of frames from image data. 2) Extraction of region of interest (ROI) from frame. 3) Meanshift clustering of pixel values. 4) Segmentation of object of interest (OOI) based on color. 5) Masking out OOI from the background using adaptive thresholding. 6) Detection of the contour of the OOI and counting of area pixels, converted to square decimeters (dm²) using known pixel width and real-world width (one meter) of the frame as size reference, resulting in computer vision area(CVA).

2.6 Ground truthing

In order to validate the estimates from the processing of image data and evaluate the accuracy of the method, ground truthing of the same kelp samples was performed. Triplicate ground truthing was conducted by harvesting each replicate separately and measuring wet weight, presented as ground-truth weight per meter (GTW) hereafter. Then, ten kelp specimens from each replicate were measured for lamina and stipe length, as well as lamina width at widest point (Fig. 6). Ground-truth lamina length is presented as GTL hereafter. The same method was repeated at each field day.



Fig. 6: Ground truthing of Saccharina latissima a) lamina length, b) lamina width at widest point and c) stipe length. Photo: Martin Molberg Overrein.

The image and ground-truth data of the kelp included, initially, only *S. latissima*. However, from visual inspections of the line, settling and growth of *A. esculenta* was observed to occur on the cultivation line around field day 5 (May 27), amounting to around 30 percent towards the end of the field campaign (June 15). Hence, specimens of *A. esculenta* were measured for lamina and stipe length, and lamina width at widest point, on field days 6 (June 3) and 7 (June 15).

On field days 6 (June 3) and 7 (June 15), growth density of the kelp samples was measured to collect additional data for validation. This was done by harvesting the first 25 cm of each replicate separately, counting the number of kelp specimens within that sub-sample and extrapolating the count to get density of the whole one-meter replicate.

2.7 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using NumPy, SciPy, scikit-learn and Matplotlib, libraries for data analysis and visualization in Python.

Relationships between MAL versus GTL, and CVA versus GTL, was investigated by applying linear regression and evaluated by their coefficient of determination (R^2). Relationships between CVA versus GTW, and GTL versus GTW, was investigated by applying exponential regression and evaluated by their coefficient of determination (R^2).

Precision of GTL, MAL and CVA was investigated by calculating standard deviation. Accuracy of MAL and CVA was investigated by calculating relative accuracy compared to GTL, and GTL and GTW, respectively.

Relationships between turbidity versus CVA relative accuracy, serving as proxies for water visibility and CVA accuracy, respectively, was investigated by applying linear regression and evaluated by their coefficient of determination (R²).

3 Results

3.1 Environmental data

Environmental conditions showed significant variation throughout the field period. Average wind speed varied significantly between field days (Fig. 7a). Seawater temperature showed a steady increase throughout the season, varying from 5.6 °C to 9.4 °C (Fig. 7b).

It was observed several peaks in *FChla* throughout the field campaign (Fig. 7c), with a short peak in late March (~2.5 mg m⁻³), a long peak around mid-April (up to 5.72 mg m⁻³) and variable values from late May until mid-June (<4mg m⁻³). The overall trend was towards higher concentrations in the second half of the field campaign. The *FChla* serve as a proxy for phytoplankton biomass and, thus, indicates when phytoplankton blooms took place.

Turbidity showed significant variability throughout the field campaign (Fig. 7c). A relatively similar trend compared to *FChla* concentration up until late May was observed, with a long peak in mid-to-late April (>0.2 FTU). A short peak was observed in mid-June (>0.2 FTU).



Fig. 7: a) Average wind speed ($m s^{-1}$) at Sula metrological station, and b) seawater temperature (°C) and c) chlorophyll a fluorescence (FChla)($mg m^{-3}$) and turbidity (FTU) at Måsskjæra farm (station MI) from February 16 to June 15. Lines indicate field days. 1: March 22, 2: April 5, 3: April 20, 4: May 4, 5: May 27, 6: June 3, 7: June 15.

3.2 Image quality and area detection

Notable differences in observed image quality of the frames used in image processing were discovered in the data sampled at different timepoints (Fig. 8) throughout the field campaign. On field days 1 (March 22) and 4 (April 5), the observed image quality was very high, indicating good water visibility. On field day 2 (April 5), it was slightly lower, but still high, indicating relatively good water visibility. On field day 7 (June 15), the observed image quality was low, indicating relatively bad water visibility. On field days 3 (April 20), 5 (May 27) and 6 (June 3), the observed image quality was very low, indicating bad water visibility. Summarized, the trend in observed image quality was towards lower quality in later parts of the field campaign. The observed image qualities are summarized in Table 2.



Fig. 8: Example image frame before computer vision processing, showing observed image quality, from each of the field days.

Notable differences in area detection from the frames used in image processing were discovered in the data sampled at different timepoints (Fig. 9) throughout the field campaign. It is important to note that accuracy of detected area varied in between frames from the same day. The area detection was accurate in all frames on March 22, April 5 and May 4. On April 20, the area detection was moderately partial, but more accurate in other frames from the same day. Area detection was moderately partial in all frames on May 27 and June 3. On June 15, area detection was significantly partial in some frames, while mostly accurate in other frames from the same day.



Fig. 9: Example image frame after computer vision processing, showing detected area of the kelp, from each of the field days. Important to note that accuracy of detected area varied in between frames from the same day.

The observed image quality and squared residuals (SR) of GTW plotted against CVA, are summarized with mean *FChla* concentration and mean turbidity on individual field days in Table 2. The SRs varied between 0.001 kg/m on April 20, and 2.310 kg/m on June 15, with a clear trend towards higher SRs in later stages of the field campaign (>0.3 kg/m). Both *FChla* concentration and turbidity peaked on April 20, with measurements of 4.485 mg m⁻³ and 0.249 FTU, respectively. High measurements of *FChla* were observed also on May 27 (3.110 kg m⁻³), June 3 (3.085 kg m⁻³) and June 15 (2.563 kg m⁻³). Another peak in turbidity was observed on May 4 (0.184 FTU), while the remaining measurements were similar (~0.060 FTU).

Table 2: Summary of observed image quality of the frames used in image processing and squared residuals (SR)(kg/m) between computer vision area (CVA)(dm²/m) and ground-truth weight (GTW)(kg/m). Mean chlorophyll a fluorescence (FChla)(mg m-3) and mean turbidity (FTU) at Måsskjæra farm (station MI) on individual field days.

Field day	Date	Observed image quality	Squared residuals (kg/m)	<i>FChla</i> (mg m ⁻³)	Turbidity (FTU)
1	March 22	Very high	0.002	1.203	0.051
2	April 5	High	0.005	0.896	0.060
3	April 20	Very low	0.001	4.485	0.249
4	May 4	Very high	0.009	0.679	0.184
5	May 27	Very low	0.426	3.110	0.069
6	June 3	Very low	0.317	3.085	0.064
7	June 15	Low	2.310	2.563	0.063

3.3 Ground-truth length (GTL) versus ground-truth weight (GTW)

The relationship between GTL and GTW was investigated, with GTW being a function of GTL (Fig. 10).

A strong positive exponential relationship ($r^2 = 0.93$) was observed between GTL and GTW, showing statistical significance (p < 0.05). Field day 7 (June 15) had a somewhat lower GTL (65.9 cm) than the exponential trend, while field day 5 (May 27) had a somewhat higher GTL (93.5 cm) than the exponential trend.



Fig. 10: Exponential relationship between ground-truth length (GTL)(cm) and ground-truth weight (GTW)(kg/m). Error bars show the standard deviation of GTL for each field day (n = 6).

3.4 Manual annotation length (MAL) versus ground-truth length (GTL)

The relationship between MAL and GTL was investigated, with GTL being a function of MAL (Fig. 11). A wide range in lamina length was observed among specimens and sampling timepoints, both for MAL and GTL. MAL ranged from 33.9 cm to 95.7 cm. GTL ranged from 37.4 cm to 93.5 cm.

MAL showed a varying standard deviation between sampling timepoints, ranging from 2.8 cm to 14.0 cm. GTL showed a more similar standard deviation, ranging from 12.4 cm to 19.5 cm.

A strong positive linear relationship ($r^2 = 0.96$) was observed between MAL and GTL. The result was statistically significant (p < 0.05).



Fig. 11: Linear relationship between manual annotation length (MAL)(cm) and ground-truth length (GTL)(cm). Error bars show the standard deviation of MAL and GTL for each field day (n=6 for MAL and n=10 for GTL).

3.5 Computer vision area (CVA) versus ground-truth length (GTL)

The relationship between CVA and GTL was investigated, with GTL being a function of CVA (Fig. 12). Both CVA and GTL showed a wide range of variation between sampling timepoints. CVA ranged from 32.2 dm² to 79.3 dm², and GTL ranged, as mentioned above, from 37.4 cm to 93.5 cm.

CVA showed a significant variation in standard deviation among sampling timepoints, ranging from 23.4 dm² to 91.7 dm². GTL showed a more similar standard deviation, ranging, as mentioned above, from 12.4 cm to 19.5 cm.

A strong positive linear relationship ($r^2 = 0.81$) was observed between CVA and GTL, showing statistical significance (p < 0.05) (Fig. 12a). Field day 7 (June 15) had a notably lower CVA (35.6 dm²) than the linear trend. If data from June 15 was removed from the statistical analysis, an even stronger linear relationship ($r^2 = 0.98$) was observed, showing statistical significance (p < 0.05) (Fig. 12b).



Fig. 12: a) Linear relationship between computer vision area per meter (CVA)(dm^2/m) and groundtruth length (GTL)(cm). b) Linear relationship without data from field day 7 (June 15). Error bars show the standard deviation of CVA and GTL for each field day (n=6 for CVA and n=10 for GTL).

3.6 Computer vision area (CVA) versus ground-truth weight (GTW)

The relationship between CVA and GTW was investigated, with GTW being a function of CVA (Fig. 13). A wide range in GTW was observed between sampling timepoints, ranging from 0.24 kg to 4.97 kg.

A strong positive exponential relationship ($r^2 = 0.84$) was observed between CVA and GTW, showing statistical significance (p < 0.05) (Fig. 13a). Field day 7 (June 15) had a notably lower CVA (35.6 dm²) than the exponential trend. If data from June 15 was removed from the statistical analysis, an even stronger exponential relationship ($r^2 = 0.95$) was observed, showing statistical significance (p < 0.05) (Fig. 13b).



Fig. 13: a) Exponential relationship between computer vision area per meter (CVA)(dm^2/m) and ground-truth weight (GTW)(kg/m). b) Exponential relationship without data from field day 7 (June 15). Error bars show the standard deviation of CVA for each field day (n=6).

4 Discussion

Manual monitoring of kelp biomass is not sufficient to meet the future needs for accuracy and efficiency in upscaled kelp aquaculture. Hence, we aimed to investigate proof of concept for *in situ* biomass estimation of cultivated kelp, towards future automated monitoring of commercial kelp-farms. The concept we investigated was to collect RGB imagery of cultivated kelp, and apply manual annotation and computer vision techniques to detect and derive meaningful size information that could be used as a proxy for biomass. Area was used as proxy, hypothesized to show a strong relationship with biomass. Additionally, we investigated which environmental factors might affect the RGB imagery. Our work indicates that the concept is, in fact, promising as a tool to estimate biomass of cultivated kelp in the future. The concept fits in well with the emerging concept of Precision Aquaculture (PA), which aims to move aquaculture operations from manual and experience-based methods to more automated and knowledge-based methods based on targeted technology and automation principles (Føre & Alver, 2022). Size assessment using computer vision for kelp-farm monitoring is especially mentioned for PA, validating the state-of-the art and relevance of our work.

4.1 Effect of environmental factors on image quality

We measured phytoplankton biomass and turbidity throughout the field campaign to investigate whether they affected observed image quality, and consequently the accuracy of area detection derived from computer vision processing. Our work indicates that phytoplankton can explain, if not all, at least parts of the variation and trend observed in image quality. This is displayed by the fact that we found a significant relationship between the two parameters throughout the field campaign, with higher *FChla* yielding lower observed image quality, and vice versa. We further observed a green hue in the image frames on days with high *FChla* in later stages of the campaign, which, according to existing literature, is a normal result of phytoplankton blooms (IOCCG, 2000; Johnsen et al., 2009; Kjerstad, 2014). The correlation with previous work serves as a validation of our findings. Hence, phytoplankton blooms seem to have an important impact on the ability to collect underwater imagery of satisfactory quality.

Our work further indicate that turbidity might, in combination with phytoplankton blooms, have a negative effect on observed image quality. This is displayed by the exceedingly low image quality observed on April 20, when the turbidity and phytoplankton measurements were both high. Turbidity could not explain the variability, nor trend, in observed image quality the rest of the field campaign. However, this could be explained by the fact that turbidity levels were relatively low on field days, rendering the potential effect of turbidity somewhat inconclusive. Furthermore, we found indication that a notable portion of the high turbidity around April 20 might be attributed to high levels of suspended matter (TSM), indicating that TSM has a significant effect on observed image quality. Imagery from April 20 produced as somewhat more blue hue compared to the green hue observed later in the field campaign, on days with low turbidity and high phytoplankton biomass. These findings coincide well with existing literature, stating that a combination of phytoplankton bloom and high content of TSM result in a dark blue hue (Johnsen et al., 2009; Kjerstad, 2014). Furthermore, TSM represent the most importance substances for underwater scattering of photons, and is highly correlated with turbidity (IOCCG, 2000; Kari et al., 2017).

Therefore, we presume that a combination of phytoplankton blooms and high TSM levels render low observed image quality, but that TSM is of less importance in the studied area. The presumption is backed by literature, stating that the Frøya region, being located of the coast off Mid-Norway, is characterized as a highly productive region. (Fragoso et al., 2019; Fragoso et al., 2021). High primary production means relatively higher levels of phytoplankton. A different situation could possibly be identified in other bodies of waters, such as a more closed fjord system, where different compound composition could alter the underwater conditions (Johnsen et al., 2009). Absorption in general, and phytoplankton especially, seem to be the main driver of light attenuation in the Frøya region during spring. That being said, future research should include measurements of TSM, as well as cDOM, to fully understand the complex optical properties of water.

An interesting aspect in this regard, is that the primary season for phytoplankton blooms coincide with the primary growth season for cultivated kelp, namely the spring. Phytoplankton deplete macronutrients in competition with kelp, inhibiting kelp growth (Johnsen et al., 2020a). Moreover, they likely influence bryozoan settlement on the kelp, which consequently degrade the quality of kelp lamina and reduce the ability to grow (Førde et al., 2016; Njåstad, 2018; Winston, 1977). Considering the impact of phytoplankton on both kelp growth, biofouling and biomass monitoring, it seems apparent that phytoplankton biomass is one of the most important parameters to thoroughly understand and monitor in kelp farming. Furthermore, Frigstad et al. (2020) suggested the implementation of several parameters, including phytoplankton, for a more holistic understanding of light attenuation in the sea. All this points toward phytoplankton being a very important factor for several parts of kelp farming and, thus, representing a factor that is important to understand and monitor.

Measurements of light conditions was not conducted in our study. Yet, by observation of the sampled image data and derived area detections, we can surmise that ambient light did affect image quality. Incident sunlight did, in some cases, seem to help distinguish the kelp from the surrounding water, while in other cases, it seemed to overexpose the images, causing partial area detection. Shadows cast by the kelp from incident light, did in the later stages of the season, hinder or constrain full area detection. This was especially well displayed on June 15, where dark areas of the kelp due to shadowing, rendered significant partial area detection. Weather conditions are the main driver of ambient light variation in shallow waters (Preisendorfer, 1976) and, thus, similar problems have been experienced in other applications (Føre et al., 2018).

Our work indicates that range to the object of interest is important for sufficient image quality and resulting area detection. We observed that detection accuracy was better on imagery at closer range than longer range. On field day 3, area detection was successfully performed with satisfactory accuracy, despite a phytoplankton concentration peak resulting in suboptimal image quality. While on field day 5 and 6, processing rendered partial area detection under similar conditions. One notable difference between the imagery, was that imagery was sampled at longer range on day 5 and 6 due to the longer length of the kelp, indicating that range is a limiting factor to optimal sampling. The literature state that environmental conditions, especially light attenuation, limit the range at which data of satisfactory quality can be obtained (Johnsen et al., 2020b;

Sørensen et al., 2020). Other studies also indicate that quality of RGB imagery is limited by range. Kjerstad (2014) found that range was important for object detection, on account of lowered spatial resolution and light attenuation. Furthermore, this coincides Cavanaugh et al. (2021b), which found that RGB imagery collected with UAV render moderate detection accuracy (67 %). Artificial light might be a solution, although, as our work indicates, light attenuation is a limitation that might reduce the feasibility. Alternatively, choice of camera could be of importance to collect imagery of high quality. Camera type, field of view and spectral resolution are some of the important factors for image collection and should, thus, be considered.

To summarize, our work indicate that one will experience a trend towards lower image quality when sampling throughout the spring season, with variation mostly determined by phytoplankton blooms. High turbidity levels might further reduce observed image quality, although the importance is somewhat ambiguous. These findings are important to consider in future work. One possibility could be to adapt time of monitoring to periods with relative lower turbidity levels and between phytoplankton blooms, in order to collect higher quality imagery. Another possibility could be to understand the relationship between phytoplankton, turbidity and processing, towards developing methods to compensate for it. Similar challenges with image-based underwater monitoring are present for everyone operating in the marine environment. Our findings could therefore prove relevant beyond the scope of kelp farming.

4.2 Size information about kelp from underwater RGB imagery

Our work indicates that it is possible to detect and derive meaningful size information about kelp from RGB imagery. We successfully annotated kelp length from RGB imagery with high accuracy, indicated by the strong relationship between manual annotation and ground-truth measurements ($r^2 = 0.96$). Hence, our study serves as strong indication that size estimation of kelp from underwater imagery is a feasible method, coinciding with numerous studies applying manual image processing in ecology (Weinstein, 2018). Our study is the first, to our knowledge, to quantify size information of kelp, and comparing it with ground-truth measurements. The fact that we successfully derived accurate size information about kelp from RGB imagery, serves as important complementation to existing research. Previous studies has managed, with the use of machine learning principles, to derive detection of both wild and cultivated kelp from underwater RGB, as well as acoustic, imagery (Bell et al., 2020; Bewley et al., 2012; Stenius et al., 2022). Bell et al. (2020) found relevant results, in the sense that they managed to detect individual kelp juveniles based on underwater RGB imagery. With the use of deep learning models, they detected kelp with 91% accuracy and 7% error compared to human-supervised annotation. Bewley et al. (2012) found similar results, as they detected kelp from RGB imagery of the seafloor using supervised learning, with promising results on detection. Bell et al. (2020), additionally, showed promising first steps towards detection of kelp with acoustic imagery, coinciding with the findings in Stenius et al. (2022). Hence, the potential for kelp detection from underwater RGB and acoustic imagery is apparent, and our findings build on this by indicating that size information can be derived after detecting the kelp. A combination of our findings with the mentioned machine learning-based techniques is therefore an interesting way forward.

The strong relationship was observed between computer vision-derived area estimates and ground-truth length measurements ($r^2 = 0.98$), indicating that it is possible to derive

meaningful size information about kelp by applying computer vision techniques on underwater RGB imagery. This coincides with the fact that underwater RGB imagery has already been successfully applied to estimate size of fish and other organisms in aquaculture (Saberioon et al., 2017; Zion, 2012). However, we found indication that observed image quality had significant importance for the accuracy of area detection. This was displayed by the fact that a relationship between observed image quality and accuracy of area detection was existing, with high accuracy derived from imagery of high observed quality, on March 22 (SR = 0.002 kg/m), April 5 (SR = 0.005 kg/m) and May 4 (SR = 0.009 kg/m). Coinciding, low accuracy was derived from imagery of low observed quality, on May 27 (SR = 0.426 kg/m), June 3 (SR = 0.317 kg/m) and June 15 (SR = 2.310 kg/m). Still, some degree of ambiguity was observed in the relationship, as April 20 yielded high accuracy (SR = 0.001 kg/m) from imagery of very low observed quality. This is an indication that observed image quality do not explain the whole feasibility for accurate area detection. We found indication that area estimates constantly underestimate the length of the kelp. Mathematically, the relationship between area per meter and mean length should be direct in this context. Underestimation can, in the later stages of the field campaign, be explained by partial detection of area due to the effect of environmental factors, as discussed above. This do, however, not explain the trend in earlier stages, which rather is affected by kelp movement due to wave action and currents. This coincides with Summers et al. (2022), as they had water movement introducing error to the results. As a result, this indicate that the investigated concept is not mature enough to estimate length directly without further investigation.

Our work indicates that RGB cameras mounted on or embedded in underwater vehicles is a suitable method for collecting imagery that can be used to derive meaningful size information about kelp from. By using a small-sized ROV we were able to sample data at close range of the kelp, rendering data with high spatial resolution. Additionally, the platform can be operated by one person, keeping the operational costs low. Our findings coincide with other fields of marine studies employing mini-ROVs with success to accurately collect detailed optical information (Føre et al., 2018; Kelasidi et al., 2020; Nevstad, 2022; Summers et al., 2022). On the other hand, recent studies have shown that kelp can be successfully monitored at larger spatial scales (Cavanaugh et al., 2021a), with the use of available satellite imagery to map and monitor wild (Bell et al., 2020; Tonion & Pirotti, 2022) and cultivated kelp (Jin et al., 2023; Zheng et al., 2019) representing the most widespread and mature methods. Furthermore, automated detection of kelp canopy with UAV has shown that RBG imagery render lower accuracy (67 percent) compared with multispectral imagery (93 percent) (Cavanaugh et al., 2021b). Yet, the sampling methods applied in those studies have been limited to the study of whole farms or canopy-forming kelp from high altitudes, meaning that satellite imagery is highly restricted in temporal and spatial resolution, and AUV imagery is highly restricted in spatial resolution. These methods will have much lower spatial resolution, so maybe not useful for biomass estimation at less than farm scale (or accurate estimation at all). Our concept is consequently an important innovation for continuous and detailed kelp biomass monitoring.

Image sampling with ROV as sensor-carrying platform has considerable constraints, such as the need for human operation, limited battery time and tether length. Consequently, a ROV can usually only collect data at a small spatial scale (Sørensen et al., 2020), as it happened in our study, since we only collected data from small sections of a cultivated kelp line. Thus, extrapolation will be required to estimate biomass for the whole line, or multiple section of the farm. To be able to extrapolate for a whole farm, other types of mobile platforms equipped with cameras should be used on an autonomous mode.

4.3 Computer vision-derived area estimation as a proxy for biomass

In our work, computer vision-derived area estimation was used as proxy to develop a relationship for biomass estimation. This relationship showed considerable promise for robust estimation of cultivated kelp biomass at a broad temporal scale, spanning from mid-March to mid-June. This was displayed by the strong relationship ($r^2 = 0.95$) found between derived area estimates and ground-truth weight measurements, both for kelp of different sizes and under differing conditions. Using area as a proxy for biomass left only 5 percent ($r^2 = 0.95$) of the variation unexplained. There is a number of relevant studies that provides methods for estimation of terrestrial crop biomass using RGB imagery and computer vision techniques. Walter et al. (2018) found a strong relationship ($r^2 = 0.79$) between estimated volume and ground-truth biomass of wheat, using consumer level RGB cameras and processing software. Bendig et al. (2014) reported a strong relationship when using estimated plant height as a proxy for fresh ($r^2 = 0.81$) and dry biomass ($r^2 = 0.82$), using RGB camera on a small UAV. These studies provide indication that our findings are credible, and that the applied method is in fact feasible, using readily available and affordable technology with a number of documented applications, both for terrestrial and marine environment. The fact that area estimates showed a linear relationship with length, and exponential relationship with weight, serve as a validation of the feasibility of using area as a proxy for biomass. This is because our ground truthing, as well as previous studies (Gerard, 1982), show that length and weight of kelp has an exponential relationship. Consequently, our results indicate that a model using area estimates as proxy for biomass can be further developed and eventually applied to accurately predict kelp biomass in situ throughout the cultivation season.

We found that using area estimation as proxy for biomass estimation, had the advantage of simplifying both data collection and processing, as imagery is only needed from a single side of the kelp. Volume is often applied as a proxy for biomass, given the close relationship between the two traits. This is especially prominent in terrestrial crop monitoring (Olsoy et al., 2014; Walter et al., 2018). However, significant research is existing with using 2D proxies. Bendig et al. (2014) used plant height for modelling biomass of barley crops, yielding promising results. Our findings also coincide with the findings of Viazzi et al. (2015), de Verdal et al. (2014), Balaban et al. (2010) and Zion et al. (1999), which all used area estimation as proxy for biomass of fish. They found strong relationships $(r^2 = 0.99)$, $(r^2 = 0.963)$, $(r^2 = 0.987)$ and $(r^2 = 0.954)$, respectively, when comparing area estimates and ground-truth measurements. Some of the strong relationship might be explained by the fact that shape of individual fish is closely related to biomass. Cultivated kelp hanging along a line has no shape that display apparent relation to the biomass, so the strong relationship identified in our work was somewhat unexpected. Anyway, our findings in comparison with other studies, indicate that area is a promising proxy for biomass estimation of kelp, as it is both robust and easy to collect imagery for. The opportunity to estimate biomass of cultivated kelp based on the investigated concept, is a significant improvement compared to today's manual methods. Therefore, our findings lay the foundation for an initial understanding of the relationship between biomass and possible proxies, indicating the feasibility of a model for biomass estimation without directly estimating the third dimension.

Further developing a model for kelp biomass estimation using area as proxy, seems like a promising path. It simplifies the sampling to use a one-dimensional proxy, as imagery only has to be collected from one side. Statistical uncertainty will be negligible on farmlevel, as sampling size will be much larger.

4.4 Future perspectives for biomass estimation of cultivated kelp

The findings in our study can be built upon by quantifying and considering more of the variables affecting the relationship between area and weight. Olsoy et al. (2014) built on their model for estimation of shrub biomass by considering temporal, seasonal change, and spatial, different sites, variables, resulting in marginally stronger models. For a further development of a model based on our preliminary findings, it can be relevant to look at environmental factors, as indications are strong that water current, phytoplankton, turbidity and light conditions greatly impact the robustness of the concept, coinciding with Summers et al. (2022). A possible concept improvement could be to equip relevant sensors on the sensor-carrying platform or in strategic positions around the farm. The collected data could be feed into growth models based on known and presumed properties of the cultivated kelp (Broch & Slagstad, 2012; Peres et al., 2021; Trancoso et al., 2005) and, thus, serve as a tool for indirect calibration and validation of our model. Consequently, potential is existing in combining established and generalized growth models with continuous biomass monitoring, towards gaining holistic control of growth development and. Alternatively, one could use a more direct approach. Kjerstad (2014) suggested that quantification of inherent optical properties (IOPs) of the water where monitoring is conducted, could be applied in pre-processing steps to render image data with more homogenous image values between frames. This could potentially allow for easier object detection and segmentation. However, the discussed aspects will certainly add complexity to the method and, thus, a relevant question is whether data of satisfactory quality can be obtained without adding unnecessary complexity. As stated by Johnsen et al. (2020b), careful consideration of sampling range and choice of sensor can go a long way to compensate for environmental conditions. Hence, going forward, a key consideration is to evaluate the value of increased accuracy and effectiveness, against the drawbacks of adding complexity to monitoring.

The algorithm developed in our study segmented kelp based on color with high accuracy $(r^2 = 0.95)$. However, it demanded individual parameter tuning for different conditions and, thus, is still highly dependent on human intervention. The method is therefore readily available, yet currently low throughput. The goal is to enable us to surpass the human intervention, but for that we need to investigate how to apply computer vision, and then build models for automation in the future. Therefore, it seems apparent that a key next step will be to automate the processing stage through machine learning (ML), enabling the creation of algorithms that can learn from data and make predictions based on observed patterns (Yan, 2022). Increasingly advanced ML models are being developed and deployed in a number of applications, also underwater. Saberioon et al. (2017) and Zion (2012) has conducted a thorough mapping of applications of ML models in aquaculture. Promising research has shown that techniques for monitoring of fish is available and robust. In addition, similar techniques can be used in, for example, early detection of net wear and damage in fish aquaculture (Kelasidi et al., 2020). Aforementioned studies (Tonion & Pirotti, 2022) have applied ML techniques for large scale aerial mapping of wild kelp and whole kelp-farms, although higher spatial resolution

research is more limited. That being said, preliminary analysis by Bell et al. (2020) were able to detect kelp juveniles underwater with 91% accuracy and only 7% error, using ML techniques on RGB imagery, showcasing the considerable potential of automated processing. Still, restrictions of the method applied in Bell et al. (2020), is that they rendered no quantifiable estimates from the processing or ground-truth measurements. By combining a similar detection algorithm with the area estimation algorithm developed in our study, automated kelp area estimation is feasible. In order to upscale this method, larger sample datasets can be used as calibration and validation data, as to reduce the statistical uncertainty and provide cross- validation of the results (Bendig et al., 2014). As a result, accurate and effective large-scale processing of image data can be developed in the near future.

As RGB imagery seem to have some limitations related to the effect of environmental factors, future research could investigate the use of other sensors, both optical and acoustic. Of them, optical sensors such as multispectral and hyperspectral imagers are of interest. Cavanaugh et al. (2021b) indicated that multispectral imagery might be more robust than RGB imagery. They found higher detection accuracy of canopy forming kelp with multispectral imagery (93 %) versus RGB imagery (67 %). The relevance is that our results using RGB imagery is promising, yet with some limitation in area detection. So, perhaps, multispectral imagery is an aspect to consider in the future. Hyperspectral imagers have been applied vastly and successfully for detection of wild kelp (Johnsen et al., 2016; Mogstad et al., 2019; Summers et al., 2022; Volent et al., 2007). However, when it comes to cultivated kelp, research is more limited.

We tested high spatial resolution sampling of imagery of kelp at a broad temporal scale, as the first study to do so. Our work indicates that underwater methods are necessary to acquire image data of satisfactory quality. Yet, the study was conducted at a small spatial scale. Hence, going forward, we anticipate that our concept can be used as the foundation to upscale image sampling to a large spatial scale using automation, eventually covering whole kelp-farms. For example, (Stenius et al., 2022) developed a methodology where they deployed an AUV to monitor a whole kelp-farm autonomously and continuously. In their small-scale scheme, an AUV followed pre-programmed or selfdetected sampling patterns based on the outline of the farm and, thus, enabling sampling of detailed image data of a whole kelp-farm throughout the cultivation season. As the AUV navigates along the cultivation lines with the help of sidescan sonar, using area as a proxy for biomass seems like an apparent option. In addition to being employed as control sensor, the sonar has the ability to collect signals from the kelp, possible to derive size information from (Bell et al., 2020). Still, none of the aforementioned studies, has yet been able to quantify size estimates of the kelp, nor collect ground-truth measurements for validation of the estimates. This indicates that the findings in our study is highly relevant. In the future, upscaling of monitoring can be achieved by combining a refined version of the platform scheme in Stenius et al. (2022), with a refined version of the image sampling and processing in our study. Other possibilities could be moving the cameras along strategically structured cables throughout the farm, removing the need for underwater vehicles. Perhaps the cameras do not need to move around at all, but rather be placed in fixed positions where sufficiently coverage of the kelp can be achieved to obtain accurate estimates. Ultimately, the goal of the technology and method should be to optimize accuracy of biomass estimation, meaning providing sufficiently monitoring, while at the same time minimalize operational costs, risks and complexity.

5 Conclusion

We found that the ability to capture imagery of high quality is significantly related to phytoplankton biomass in the water, with blooms degrading the observed quality. Furthermore, our work indicates that high turbidity levels, possibly caused by suspended matter, further degrade image quality. Still, this effect seems less important in the studied area. Additionally, our work indicates that incident light is of some importance to the image quality. Given the importance of underwater conditions, especially phytoplankton, towards several aspects of kelp farming, we propose that it is of key importance to understand and monitor in the future.

Our work indicate that low image quality can lead to lower accuracy of area detections, through partial detection. The accuracy of area detections is related to the quality of the imagery used in processing. However, detection accuracy is also dependent on factors such as range between camera and the kelp, and kelp movement due to wave action and currents.

Underwater RGB imagery provides the opportunity to derive quantifiable size information of cultivated kelp with high accuracy. Both manual length annotation and computer vision-derived area estimation displayed promising results, indicating that robust biomass estimation is possible. RGB cameras on an underwater vehicle can provide imagery of high spatial resolution, a prerequisite for accurate biomass estimation. Hence, we propose that future biomass monitoring is based on upscaled and automated collection of underwater RGB imagery.

Our work further indicate that computer vision-derived area estimation can serve as a robust proxy for biomass of cultivated kelp. Area and biomass displayed a promising relationship, that can be further validated by upscaled image collection and automated processing.

This novel concept provides important first step findings and estimates towards developing an automated biomass monitoring scheme in kelp aquaculture. Based on our work, we predict a future scheme for farm-scale biomass monitoring based on autonomous data collection and real-time processing. This will be based on state-of-the-art technology and machine learning principles. With new technological advances, a sea of opportunities will be unlocked in the coming years.

References

- Balaban, M. O., Ünal Şengör, G. F., Soriano, M. G., & Ruiz, E. G. (2010). Using Image Analysis to Predict the Weight of Alaskan Salmon of Different Species. *Journal of Food Science*, 75(3), E157-E162. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2010.01522.x
- Bell, T. W., Cavanaugh, K. C., & Siegel, D. A. (2015). Remote monitoring of giant kelp biomass and physiological condition: An evaluation of the potential for the Hyperspectral Infrared Imager (HyspIRI) mission. *Remote Sensing of Environment, 167*, 218-228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2015.05.003
- Bell, T. W., Nidzieko, N. J., Siegel, D. A., Miller, R. J., Cavanaugh, K. C., Nelson, N. B., Reed, D. C., Fedorov, D., Moran, C., Snyder, J. N., Cavanaugh, K. C., Yorke, C. E., & Griffith, M. (2020). The Utility of Satellites and Autonomous Remote Sensing Platforms for Monitoring Offshore Aquaculture Farms: A Case Study for Canopy Forming Kelps. *Frontiers in Marine Science, 7*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.520223
- Bendig, J., Bolten, A., Bennertz, S., Broscheit, J., Eichfuss, S., & Bareth, G. (2014).
 Estimating Biomass of Barley Using Crop Surface Models (CSMs) Derived from UAV-Based RGB Imaging. *Remote Sensing*, 6(11), 10395-10412.
 https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/rs61110395
- Bewley, M., Douillard, B., Nourani-Vatani, N., Friedman, A., & Pizarro, O. (2012, 3-5 Dec). Automated species detection: An experimental approach to kelp detection from sea-floor AUV images. Australasian Conference on Robotics and Automation, Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand.
- Broch, O. J., & Slagstad, D. (2012). Modelling seasonal growth and composition of the kelp Saccharina latissima. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 24(4), 759-776. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-011-9695-y
- Cai, J., Lovatelli, A., Aguilar-Manjarrez, J., Cornish, L., Dabbadie, L., Desrochers, A.,
 Diffey, S., Garrido Gamarro, E., Geehan, J., Hurtado, A., Lucente, D., Mair, G.,
 Miao, W., Potin, P., Przybyla, C., Reantaso, M., Roubach, R., Tauati, M., & Yuan,
 X. (2021a). Seaweeds and microalgae: an overview for unlocking their potential in
 global aquaculture development (FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Circular No.
 1229). FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb5670en
- Cai, J., Lovatelli, S., Stankus, A., & Zhou, X. (2021b). Seaweed Revolution: Where is the Next Milestone? FAO Aquaculture News, No. 63 (May), 13-16. https://www.fao.org/3/cb4850en/cb4850en.pdf#page=13

- Cavanaugh, K. C., Bell, T., Costa, M., Eddy, N. E., Gendall, L., Gleason, M. G., Hessing-Lewis, M., Martone, R., McPherson, M., Pontier, O., Reshitnyk, L., Beas-Luna, R., Carr, M., Caselle, J. E., Cavanaugh, K. C., Flores Miller, R., Hamilton, S., Heady, W. N., Hirsh, H. K., Hohman, R., Lee, L. C., Lorda, J., Ray, J., Reed, D. C., Saccomanno, V. R., & Schroeder, S. B. (2021a). A Review of the Opportunities and Challenges for Using Remote Sensing for Management of Surface-Canopy Forming Kelps. *Frontiers in Marine Science, 8*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.753531
- Cavanaugh, K. C., Cavanaugh, K. C., Bell, T. W., & Hockridge, E. G. (2021b). An Automated Method for Mapping Giant Kelp Canopy Dynamics from UAV. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.587354
- Coro, G., & Walsh, M. B. (2021). An intelligent and cost-effective remote underwater video device for fish size monitoring. *Ecological Informatics*, 63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2021.101311
- de Verdal, H., Vandeputte, M., Pepey, E., Vidal, M.-O., & Chatain, B. (2014). Individual growth monitoring of European sea bass larvae by image analysis and microsatellite genotyping. *Aquaculture*, *434*, 470-475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.09.012
- Diamanti, E., Løvås, H. S., Larsen, M. K., & Ødegård, Ø. (2021). A multi-camera system for the integrated documentation of Underwater Cultural Heritage of high structural complexity; The case study of M/S Helma wreck. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 54(16), 422-429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2021.10.126
- Duarte, C. M., Losada, I. J., Hendriks, I. E., Mazarrasa, I., & Marbà, N. (2013). The role of coastal plant communities for climate change mitigation and adaptation. *Nature Climate Change*, 3(11), 961-968. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1970
- Ervik, H., Finne, T. E., & Jenssen, B. M. (2018). Toxic and essential elements in seafood from Mausund, Norway. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25(8), 7409-7417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-1000-4
- FAO. (2022a). The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. Towards Blue Transformation (The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture (SOFIA) 2022). https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0461en
- FAO. (2022b). *Top 10 species groups in global aquaculture 2020* [Factsheet]. FAO. https://www.fao.org/3/cc0723en/cc0723en.pdf
- Financial Times Live. (2023). *Powering the Seaweed Revolution*. Financial Times Live. Retrieved May 1, 2023 from https://seaweedrevolution.live.ft.com/home
- Fiskeridirektoratet. (2023). A.06.011 Alger. Høsting til konsum og fôr etter art, statistikkvariabel og år [Statistics]. https://www.fiskeridir.no/Tall-oganalyse/Statistikkbanken

- Fragoso, G. M., Davies, E. J., Ellingsen, I., Chauton, M. S., Fossum, T., Ludvigsen, M., Steinhovden, K. B., Rajan, K., & Johnsen, G. (2019). Physical controls on phytoplankton size structure, photophysiology and suspended particles in a Norwegian biological hotspot. *Progress in Oceanography*, *175*, 284-299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2019.05.001
- Fragoso, G. M., Johnsen, G., Chauton, M. S., Cottier, F., & Ellingsen, I. (2021).
 Phytoplankton community succession and dynamics using optical approaches. *Continental Shelf Research, 213*, 104322.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2020.104322
- Frigstad, H., Harvey, T., Deininger, A., & Poste, A. (2020). Increased light attenuation in Norwegian coastal waters - A literature review (NIVA-rapport;7551). https://niva.brage.unit.no/niva-xmlui/handle/11250/2711599
- Førde, H., Forbord, S., Handå, A., Fossberg, J., Arff, J., Johnsen, G., & Reitan, K. I. (2016). Development of bryozoan fouling on cultivated kelp (Saccharina latissima) in Norway. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 28(2), 1225-1234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-015-0606-5
- Føre, M., & Alver, M. O. (2022). Precision Aquaculture. In Q. Zhang (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Smart Agriculture Technologies (pp. 1-12). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-89123-7_26-1
- Føre, M., Frank, K., Norton, T., Svendsen, E., Alfredsen, J. A., Dempster, T., Eguiraun, H., Watson, W., Stahl, A., Sunde, L. M., Schellewald, C., Skøien, K. R., Alver, M. O., & Berckmans, D. (2018). Precision fish farming: A new framework to improve production in aquaculture. *Biosystems Engineering*, *173*, 176-193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2017.10.014
- Gerard, V. A. (1982). Growth and utilization of internal nitrogen reserves by the giant kelp Macrocystis pyrifera in a low-nitrogen environment. *Marine Biology*, 66(1), 27-35. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00397251
- Hallsson, S. V. (1964). The uses of seaweeds in Iceland. In A. D. D. Virville & J.
 Feldmann (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Fourth International Seaweed Symposium*, *Biarritz, September 1961* (pp. 398–405). Pergamon Press.
- Hurd, C. L., Lobban, C. S., Bischof, K., & Harrison, P. J. (2014). Seaweed thalli and cells. In Seaweed Ecology and Physiology (2 ed., pp. 1-47). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09781139192637.002
- IOCCG. (2000). Remote sensing of ocean colour in coastal, and other optically-complex, waters (Reports of the International Ocean-Colour Coordinating Group, No. 3). http://dx.doi.org/10.25607/OBP-95
- Jin, R., Ye, Z., Chen, S., Gu, J., He, J., Huang, L., Christakos, G., Agusti, S., Duarte, C. M., & Wu, J. (2023). Accurate mapping of seaweed farms with high-resolution

imagery in China. *Geocarto International, 38*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/10106049.2023.2203114

- Johnsen, G., Leu, E., & Gradinger, R. (2020a). Marine Micro- and Macroalgae in the Polar Night. In J. Berge, G. Johnsen, & J. H. Cohen (Eds.), POLAR NIGHT Marine Ecology: Life and Light in the Dead of Night (pp. 67-112). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-33208-2_4
- Johnsen, G., Ludvigsen, M., Sørensen, A., & Sandvik Aas, L. M. (2016). The use of underwater hyperspectral imaging deployed on remotely operated vehicles methods and applications. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 49(23), 476-481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2016.10.451
- Johnsen, G., Mogstad, A. A., Berge, J., & Cohen, J. H. (2020b). Operative Habitat Mapping and Monitoring in the Polar Night. In J. Berge, G. Johnsen, & J. H. Cohen (Eds.), *POLAR NIGHT Marine Ecology: Life and Light in the Dead of Night* (pp. 277-305). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-33208-2_10
- Johnsen, G., Volent, Z., Sakshaug, E., Sigernes, F., & Pettersson, L. (2009). Remote sensing in the Barents Sea. In E. Sakshaug, G. Johnsen, & K. Kovacs (Eds.), *Ecosystem Barents Sea* (pp. 139–166). Tapir Academic Press.
- Kari, E., Kratzer, S., Beltrán-Abaunza, J. M., Harvey, E. T., & Vaičiūtė, D. (2017).
 Retrieval of suspended particulate matter from turbidity model development, validation, and application to MERIS data over the Baltic Sea. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, *38*(7), 1983-2003.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2016.1230289
- Kelasidi, E., Schellewald, C., Yip, M., & Remmen, B. M. (2020). Data capture and realtime data quality analysis (SINTEF Ocean rapporter;OC2020 A-033). https://sintef.brage.unit.no/sintef-xmlui/handle/11250/2647650
- Kjerstad, I. (2014). Underwater Imaging and the effect of Inherent Optical Properties on image quality [Master thesis, NTNU]. NTNU Open. https://ntnuopen.ntnu.no/ntnuxmlui/handle/11250/245550
- Krause-Jensen, D., & Duarte, C. M. (2016). Substantial role of macroalgae in marine carbon sequestration. *Nature Geoscience*, 9(10), 737-742. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo2790
- Krause-Jensen, D., Lavery, P., Serrano, O., Marbà, N., Masque, P., & Duarte, C. M.
 (2018). Sequestration of macroalgal carbon: the elephant in the Blue Carbon room. *Biology Letters*, 14(6). https://doi.org/doi:10.1098/rsbl.2018.0236
- Kraan, S. (2020). Chapter 3 Seaweed resources, collection, and cultivation with respect to sustainability. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable*

Seaweed Technologies (pp. 89-102). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00003-2

- Lange, L., Bak, U. G., Hansen, S. C. B., Gregersen, O., Harmsen, P., Karlsson, E. N., Meyer, A., Mikkelsen, M. D., Van Den Broek, L., & Hreggviðsson, G. Ó. (2020).
 Chapter 1 - Opportunities for seaweed biorefinery. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H.
 Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable Seaweed Technologies* (pp. 3-31). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00001-9
- Lloyd's Register Foundation. (2020). *Seaweed Revolution: A manifesto for a sustainable future*. https://ungc-communications-

assets.s3.amazonaws.com/docs/publications/The-Seaweed-Manifesto.pdf

- Ludvigsen, M., & Sørensen, A. J. (2016). Towards integrated autonomous underwater operations for ocean mapping and monitoring. *Annual Reviews in Control, 42*, 145-157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcontrol.2016.09.013
- Mahmood, A., Ospina, A. G., Bennamoun, M., An, S., Sohel, F., Boussaid, F., Hovey, R.,
 Fisher, R. B., & Kendrick, G. A. (2020). Automatic Hierarchical Classification of
 Kelps Using Deep Residual Features. *Sensors, 20*(2), 447.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/s20020447
- Middelburg, J. J., Duarte, C. M., & Gattuso, J.-P. (2005). Respiration in coastal benthic communities. In P. del Giorgio & P. Williams (Eds.), *Respiration in Aquatic Ecosystems* (pp. 206–224). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198527084.003.0011
- Mogstad, A. A., Johnsen, G., & Ludvigsen, M. (2019). Shallow-Water Habitat Mapping using Underwater Hyperspectral Imaging from an Unmanned Surface Vehicle: A Pilot Study. *Remote Sensing*, *11*(6), 685. https://www.mdpi.com/2072-4292/11/6/685
- Mouritsen, O. G., Dawczynski, C., Duelund, L., Jahreis, G., Vetter, W., & Schröder, M. (2013). On the human consumption of the red seaweed dulse (Palmaria palmata (L.) Weber & Mohr). *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 25(6), 1777-1791. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-013-0014-7
- Neori, A., & Nobre, A. M. (2012). RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TROPHIC LEVEL AND ECONOMICS IN AQUACULTURE. Aquaculture Economics & Management, 16(1), 40-67. https://doi.org/10.1080/13657305.2012.649046
- Nevstad, M. B. (2022). Use of different imaging systems for ROV-based mapping of complex benthic habitats [Master thesis, NTNU]. NTNU Open. https://ntnuopen.ntnu.no/ntnu-xmlui/handle/11250/3047578
- Njåstad, E. B. (2018). Influence of food availability and nutritional state of macroalgae on development of fouling bryozoans on cultivated Saccharina latissima [Master

thesis, NTNU]. NTNU Open. https://ntnuopen.ntnu.no/ntnuxmlui/handle/11250/2503071

- Olafsen, T., Winther, U., Olsen, Y., & Skjermo, J. (2012). *Verdiskaping basert på produktive hav i 2050*. https://www.sintef.no/globalassets/upload/fiskeri_og_havbruk/publikasjoner/verd iskaping-basert-pa-produktive-hav-i-2050.pdf
- Olsoy, P. J., Glenn, N. F., Clark, P. E., & Derryberry, D. R. (2014). Aboveground total and green biomass of dryland shrub derived from terrestrial laser scanning. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, *88*, 166-173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2013.12.006
- Padam, B. S., & Chye, F. Y. (2020). Chapter 2 Seaweed components, properties, and applications. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable Seaweed Technologies* (pp. 33-87). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00002-0
- Peres, C., Emam, M., Jafarzadeh, H., Belcastro, M., & O'Flynn, B. (2021). Development of a Low-Power Underwater NFC-Enabled Sensor Device for Seaweed Monitoring. *Sensors, 21*(14), 4649. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21144649
- Preisendorfer, R. W. (1976). Hydrologic Optics. Volume 1. Introduction. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Environmental Research Laboratories, Pacific Marine Environmental Laboratory.
- Saberioon, M., Gholizadeh, A., Cisar, P., Pautsina, A., & Urban, J. (2017). Application of machine vision systems in aquaculture with emphasis on fish: state-of-the-art and key issues. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 9(4), 369-387. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12143
- Sakshaug, E., Johnsen, G., & Volent, Z. (2009). Light. In E. Sakshaug, G. Johnsen, & K. Kovacs (Eds.), *Ecosystem Barents Sea* (pp. 117–138). Tapir Academic Press.
- Skagseth, Ø., Drinkwater, K. F., & Terrile, E. (2011). Wind- and buoyancy-induced transport of the Norwegian Coastal Current in the Barents Sea. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 116*(C8). https://doi.org/10.1029/2011JC006996
- Skjermo, J., Aasen, I. M., Arff, J., Broch, O. J., Carvajal, A. K., Christie, H. C., Forbord,
 S., Olsen, Y., Reitan, K. I., Rustad, T., Sandquist, J., Solbakken, R., Steinhovden,
 K. B., Wittgens, B., Wolff, R., & Handå, A. (2014). *A new Norwegian bioeconomy based on cultivation and processing of seaweeds: Opportunities and R&D needs*(SINTEF A25981).
- Sondak, C. F. A., Ang, P. O., Beardall, J., Bellgrove, A., Boo, S. M., Gerung, G. S.,
 Hepburn, C. D., Hong, D. D., Hu, Z., Kawai, H., Largo, D., Lee, J. A., Lim, P.-E.,
 Mayakun, J., Nelson, W. A., Oak, J. H., Phang, S.-M., Sahoo, D., Peerapornpis, Y.,
 Yang, Y., & Chung, I. K. (2017). Carbon dioxide mitigation potential of seaweed

aquaculture beds (SABs). *Journal of Applied Phycology*, *29*(5), 2363-2373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-016-1022-1

- Stenius, I., Folkesson, J., Bhat, S., Sprague, C. I., Ling, L., Özkahraman, Ö., Bore, N.,
 Cong, Z., Severholt, J., Ljung, C., Arnwald, A., Torroba, I., Gröndahl, F., &
 Thomas, J.-B. (2022). A System for Autonomous Seaweed Farm Inspection with
 an Underwater Robot. *Sensors, 22*(13), 5064. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22135064
- Stévant, P., Rebours, C., & Chapman, A. (2017). Seaweed aquaculture in Norway: recent industrial developments and future perspectives. *Aquaculture International*, 25(4), 1373-1390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-017-0120-7
- Sulaiman, O. O., Kader, A. S. A., Magee, A., & Othman, K. (2015). Mooring Analysis of Offshore Aquaculture Oceanic Farming Platform for Seaweed. *Journal of Coastal Zone Management*, 18(2). https://doi.org/10.4172/2473-3350.1000399
- Summers, N., Johnsen, G., Mogstad, A., Løvås, H., Fragoso, G., & Berge, J. (2022). Underwater Hyperspectral Imaging of Arctic Macroalgal Habitats during the Polar Night Using a Novel Mini-ROV-UHI Portable System. *Remote Sensing*, 14(6), 1325. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14061325
- Sætre, R. (2007). Short-term variability and small-scale features. In R. Sætre (Ed.), The Norwegian Coastal Current - Oceanography and Climate (pp. 89-98). Tapir Academic Press.
- Sørensen, A. J., Ludvigsen, M., Norgren, P., Ødegård, Ø., & Cottier, F. (2020). Sensor-Carrying Platforms. In J. Berge, G. Johnsen, & J. H. Cohen (Eds.), POLAR NIGHT Marine Ecology: Life and Light in the Dead of Night (pp. 241-275). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-33208-2_9
- Tiller, R. G., Hansen, L., Richards, R., & Strand, H. (2015). Work segmentation in the Norwegian salmon industry: The application of segmented labor market theory to work migrants on the island community of Frøya, Norway. *Marine Policy*, *51*, 563-572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2014.10.001
- Tonion, F., & Pirotti, F. (2022). SEAWEED PRESENCE DETECTION USING MACHINE LEARNING AND REMOTE SENSING. Int. Arch. Photogramm. Remote Sens. Spatial Inf. Sci., XLIII-B3-2022, 1011-1017. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprs-archives-XLIII-B3-2022-1011-2022
- Trancoso, A. R., Saraiva, S., Fernandes, L., Pina, P., Leitão, P., & Neves, R. (2005). Modelling macroalgae using a 3D hydrodynamic-ecological model in a shallow, temperate estuary. *Ecological Modelling*, 187(2), 232-246. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.01.054
- Viazzi, S., Van Hoestenberghe, S., Goddeeris, B. M., & Berckmans, D. (2015). Automatic mass estimation of Jade perch Scortum barcoo by computer vision. *Aquacultural Engineering*, 64, 42-48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2014.11.003

- Volent, Z., Johnsen, G., & Sigernes, F. (2007). Kelp forest mapping by use of airborne hyperspectral imager. *Journal of Applied Remote Sensing*, 1(1), 011503. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.2822611
- Walter, J., Edwards, J., McDonald, G., & Kuchel, H. (2018). Photogrammetry for the estimation of wheat biomass and harvest index. *Field Crops Research*, 216, 165-174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2017.11.024
- Wang, T., Liu, Y., Wang, M., Fan, Q., Tian, H., Qiao, X., & Li, Y. (2021). Applications of UAS in Crop Biomass Monitoring: A Review. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.616689
- Weinstein, B. G. (2018). A computer vision for animal ecology. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *87*(3), 533-545. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12780
- Winston, J. E. (1977). Feeding in Marine Bryozoans. In R. M. Woollacott & R. L. Zimmer (Eds.), *Biology of Bryozoans* (pp. 233-271). Academic Press.
- Yan, Y. (2022). Machine Learning Fundamentals. In Q. Zhang (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Smart Agriculture Technologies* (pp. 1-7). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-89123-7_69-1
- Zheng, Y., Duarte, C. M., Chen, J., Li, D., Lou, Z., & Wu, J. (2019). Remote sensing mapping of macroalgal farms by modifying thresholds in the classification tree. *Geocarto International*, 34(10), 1098-1108. https://doi.org/10.1080/10106049.2018.1474272
- Zion, B. (2012). The use of computer vision technologies in aquaculture A review. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture, 88*, 125-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2012.07.010
- Zion, B., Shklyar, A., & Karplus, I. (1999). Sorting fish by computer vision. *Computers* and Electronics in Agriculture, 23(3), 175-187. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1699(99)00030-7



